PERCEIVED SOCIAL SUPPORT AND GENDER AS MODERATORS OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE AND POSTTRAUMATIC GROWTH

by

Justice M. Cundiff

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Master of Arts in Psychology

Middle Tennessee State University

August 2021

Thesis Committee:

Mary Ellen Fromuth, Ph.D., Committee Chair

Dana K. Fuller, Ph.D., Committee Member

Kimberly Ujcich Ward, Ph.D., Critical Reader

ABSTRACT

The current study was designed to investigate the moderating effects of participant gender and perceived social support on the relationship between intimate partner violence victimization and posttraumatic growth. Participants included 86 (27 men and 59 women) undergraduate students who completed a questionnaire that included items pertaining to demographics, partner violence, social support, and posttraumatic growth. Data were analyzed using Welch's *t* tests and correlational analyses. Roughly 57% of participants indicated that they had experienced partner abuse on at least one occasion. In the current sample, there was no statistically significant relationship between partner abuse victimization and posttraumatic growth; in light of this, the moderation effects of gender and social support were not explored.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLESv
LIST OF APPENDICES vi
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION1
Posttraumatic Growth
Gender Differences in PTG6
PTG in Victims of Interpersonal Violence8
PTG in Survivors of Intimate Partner Violence10
PTG and Social Support in Survivors of IPV12
Summary and Purpose17
CHAPTER II: METHOD
Participants21
Measures
Demographics
The Composite Abuse Scale23
Descriptive relationship items25
The Posttraumatic Growth Inventory25
The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support27
Procedure
CHAPTER III: RESULTS
Descriptive Statistics
Hypotheses Testing

Hypothesis one	
Hypothesis two	
Hypothesis three	
Hypothesis four	
Exploratory Analyses	
CHAPTER IV: DISCUSSION	
REFERENCES	41
APPENDICES	57

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1: Demographic Frequencies of Final Sample	22
TABLE 2: Comparison of Men and Women on the Study Variables.	30
TABLE 3: Correlations Among MSPSS, CAS, and PTGI Total and Subscale Scores for the Overall Sample	32
TABLE 4: Correlations Among MSPSS, CAS, and PTGI Total and SubscaleScores for Men ($n = 27$) and Women ($n = 59$)	33

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: IRB Approval Page	58
APPENDIX B: Revised IRB Approval Page	61
APPENDIX C: Demographic Items	64
APPENDIX D: Descriptive Relationship Items	65
APPENDIX E: Informed Consent	66
APPENDIX F: Debriefing Form	69

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2019) defines intimate partner violence (IPV) as "abuse or aggression that occurs in a close relationship" with intimate partner referring to "both current and former spouses and dating partners" (p. 1). The CDC further notes that IPV can include physical, sexual, or psychological abuse as well as stalking. As defined by Smith et al. (2018), physical partner abuse involves the use of physical force to harm a partner, such as by hitting or kicking. Further, they define sexual IPV as when an individual attempts to force or coerce their partner into engaging in unwanted sexual activity. Smith et al. (2018) state that psychological partner abuse includes behaviors such as attempting to control a partner, insulting a partner, or calling them names. Additionally, Smith et al. (2018) define stalking as unwanted attention that involves threatening or harassing a former or current partner. They conceptualize harassment as including actions such as repeatedly making unwanted phone calls, following a current or former partner, and making unwanted visits to the victim's school, home, or place of work.

Smith et al. (2018) estimated that 36.4% of women and 33.6% of men in the United States of America (U.S.) experience sexual IPV, physical IPV, and/or stalking by an intimate partner within their lifetime. In terms of psychological partner aggression in the U.S., men and women report similar rates of lifetime prevalence with slightly over one-third of both genders experiencing psychological IPV (Smith et al., 2018). This information from Smith et al.'s (2018) data brief on the National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey suggests that intimate partner violence is prevalent within the U.S.

Studies (e.g., Dardis et al., 2020; Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016) suggest that intimate partner violence may be prevalent among university students. Chan et al. (2008) conducted an international study that investigated IPV in samples of college students across 21 countries. That study focused on physical assault and sexual coercion by intimate partners. Physical and sexual IPV had a median prevalence of 26% and 24%, respectively, within the 12 months prior to data collection for that study (Chan et al., 2008). This indicates that partner abuse among college students may be a pressing social issue that occurs worldwide.

There have been a number of studies that have investigated partner violence specifically in U.S. undergraduate samples. In one such study, Rutter et al. (2012) found that men and women indicated similar rates of partner abuse, with slightly over 20% of both men and women having experienced physical abuse in the past year. Nearly 75% of both genders in that study (Rutter et al., 2012) indicated that they had experienced psychological abuse within the year before data collection. Additionally, Wolford-Clevenger et al. (2016) reported that 53% of their U.S. university sample indicated having experienced some form of physical abuse, emotional abuse, or harassment in a relationship within the year prior to taking the survey. In a recent study, Dardis et al. (2020) found that 45% of women and 60% of men indicated that they had been the victims of psychological IPV within the past year. Roughly 11% of women and 26% of men in that study (Dardis et al., 2020) indicated that they had experienced physical IPV in the year prior to taking the survey. Although the rates indicated by these studies vary, each of them suggests that intimate partner violence is prevalent among college students within the U.S.

IPV victimization is associated with a variety of negative correlates. Cody et al. (2017), for example, found that many of the women in their sample who had been abused by a partner met diagnostic criteria for depressive disorders (40%), generalized anxiety disorder (55%), and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD, 27%). Furthermore, studies (e.g., Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016, 2017) have found suicidal ideation to be linked to partner violence victimization, as well. Previous research (e.g., Cody et al., 2017; Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016), therefore, has identified a range of negative correlates that are related to partner abuse.

Overall, the available literature suggests that intimate partner violence is prevalent in U.S. community samples (Smith et al., 2018) and in university samples (e.g., Dardis et al., 2020). IPV victimization has been linked to a range of negative correlates, such as symptoms of depression and anxiety (e.g., Cody et al., 2017). It is important to note, however, that a more limited body of research (e.g., Linley & Joseph, 2004; Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004; Webster & Deng, 2015) suggests that traumatic experiences, such as IPV victimization, also have the potential to yield unexpected positive outcomes. The current study sought to add to this literature by investigating posttraumatic growth in survivors of partner abuse.

Posttraumatic Growth

Researchers have been interested in the possible perceived benefits of trauma for decades. Affleck et al. (1987) interviewed individuals who had experienced heart

attacks. Participants in that study (Affleck et al., 1987) reported positive changes in their interpersonal relationships and a greater appreciation for daily life. Moreover, survivors of natural disasters have indicated increases in personal strength along with changes in their priorities (McMillen et al., 1997). In female victims of childhood sexual abuse, McMillen et al. (1995) found that many women reported increases in personal strength and empathy for others. Furthermore, Burt and Katz (1987) reported that many survivors of rape indicated that they had become more independent and had developed a stronger sense of self-worth due to their experiences. As these studies suggest, the concept of positive transformation after traumatic events has been explored in a variety of contexts.

The term "posttraumatic growth" (p. 458) first appeared in the literature in 1996 (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996) defined posttraumatic growth (PTG) as positive changes or personal growth in the aftermath of trauma. Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996) theorized that PTG can occur when a traumatic event forces an individual to reevaluate their assumptions about themselves and the world. It is theorized that this change in perspective allows an individual to experience positive changes after the adverse event, such as by constructing a stronger sense of identity, building stronger interpersonal relationships, or assigning new meaning to life (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004).

PTG encompasses a range of positive outcomes in a variety of domains. Some research (e.g., Leiva-Bianchi & Araneda, 2015; Rodríguez-Rey et al., 2016) has suggested that there are three distinct factors of PTG. Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996, 2004), however, conceptualized PTG as having five domains including relating to others, new possibilities, personal strength, spiritual change, and appreciation of life. Factor analyses (e.g., Ramos et al., 2016; Saltzman et al., 2015; Silverstein et al., 2018) generally have supported this five-factor model of posttraumatic growth.

Posttraumatic growth has been documented in the aftermath of a variety of traumatic experiences. For example, research (e.g., Stein et al., 2018; Taylor, 2020) consistently has supported the experience of growth after the death of a loved one. Multiple studies (e.g., Chen et al., 2020; Romeo et al., 2020) also have found personal growth to be prevalent among cancer survivors. PTG has been documented in the context of living through natural disasters, as well (e.g., Chen et al., 2015; Manove et al., 2019). In terms of violence, posttraumatic growth has been documented in combat veterans (e.g., Hawker & Nino, 2017; Nordstrand et al., 2020), victims of political violence (e.g., Cárdenas Castro et al., 2019; Gasparre et al., 2010; Hawley et al., 2017), and abuse victims (e.g., Ha et al., 2019; Sheridan & Carr, 2020). According to a meta-analysis by Wu et al. (2019) that included studies on a variety of traumatic experiences, roughly 52% of trauma survivors indicate moderate-to-high levels of posttraumatic growth in the aftermath of adverse experiences.

Survivors of different types of trauma may have different posttraumatic growth experiences. Lowe et al. (2020) analyzed data that had been previously collected for the Nurses' Health Study II (Bao et al., 2016, as cited in Lowe et al., 2020). Women who had experienced bereavement, IPV, physical assault, or rape were included in the original study (Bao et al., 2016). The portion of those women who had met the screening criteria for a probable PTSD diagnosis were included in the later analysis (Lowe et al., 2020), which investigated variation in PTG levels based on trauma type. Lowe et al. (2020) found that rape survivors indicated lower levels of PTG than participants who had reported other traumatic events. Statistically significant differences in levels of growth across the other trauma types, however, were limited to specific PTG domains. IPV survivors, for example, had mean subscale scores that indicated more growth in the "personal strength" and "new possibilities" areas of PTG compared to survivors of other traumatic experiences, such as bereavement, physical assault, or rape. This suggests that patterns of posttraumatic growth may vary based on the type of traumatic event experienced by the individual.

Gender Differences in PTG

Gender differences in levels of posttraumatic growth have been observed across a variety of contexts. For example, in an undergraduate sample reporting on a variety of stressful experiences, the mean PTG score for women was statistically significantly higher than the mean PTG score for men (Baker et al., 2008). Additionally, in a study of PTG in bereaved parents (Albuquerque et al., 2018), women indicated statistically significantly higher levels of growth than men. With regard to men and women who had recently experienced the end of a romantic relationship, Tashiro and Frazier (2003) also found that women indicated statistically significantly higher levels of PTG than men.

It is important to note, however, that findings on gender differences in PTG levels are not unanimous. Some studies, such as Arpawong et al.'s (2013) research on cancer survivors, for example, have shown that men may indicate experiencing statistically significantly higher levels of growth than women. In contrast, some studies (e.g., Barlow & Hetzel-Riggin, 2018; Nelson, 2016) have reported no statistically significant gender differences in PTG. Vishnevsky et al. (2010) conducted a meta-analysis to better understand how gender may relate to levels of growth after trauma. They explored the magnitude of gender differences observed across 70 studies that investigated PTG after a wide range of traumatic experiences. Although there was a range of effect sizes (-0.02 to 0.75) across those 70 studies, Vishnevsky et al. (2010) concluded that a small-to-moderate effect size does exist, with women generally indicating higher levels of PTG than men.

The relationship between gender and posttraumatic growth may be influenced by a variety of factors. Vishnevsky et al.'s (2010) meta-analysis also explored potential moderators of gender differences in self-reported PTG. They found that the gender differences were more pronounced in studies with older participants. Furthermore, results from Barlow and Hetzel-Riggin's (2018) study suggested that gender role adherence, rather than gender, may predict PTG levels. That study (Barlow & Hetzel-Riggin, 2018) revealed that participants who indicated having a strong gender identity (i.e., masculine, feminine, or both/androgynous) indicated higher levels of PTG than participants who did not have a strong gender role identity. This suggests, therefore, that the variation in findings on gender differences across studies may be related to factors such as varying mean age (Vishnevsky et al., 2010) or the gender role adherence (Barlow & Hetzel-Riggin, 2018) of the participants in those studies.

To summarize, survivors of a variety of traumatic experiences have indicated experiencing posttraumatic growth (e.g., Chen et al., 2020; Sheridan & Carr, 2020; Taylor, 2020). Lowe et al.'s (2020) study demonstrated that different adverse events may lead survivors to experience PTG in different ways, such that victims of intimate partner violence may score higher in the personal strength and new possibilities domains than survivors of other traumatic experiences. Considering that some research (e.g., Albuquerque et al., 2018) has found statistically significant gender differences in posttraumatic growth scores, variability in levels of PTG also may be related to gender. The existing literature, therefore, suggests that it may be important to consider the potential influences of specific traumatic experiences and the victim's gender when studying posttraumatic growth.

PTG in Victims of Interpersonal Violence

The World Health Organization (WHO, 2002) defines interpersonal violence as acts of violence that occur between individuals. The WHO further states that this category of violence includes community violence, family violence, and intimate partner violence. According to a recent meta-analysis (Elderton et al., 2017), an average of 71% of survivors of interpersonal violence, including victims of physical assault, sexual assault, and IPV, indicate that they have experienced posttraumatic growth. In research on female victims of physical or sexual assault, for example, nearly 99% of the women had indicated experiencing some degree of personal growth (Grubaugh & Resick, 2007). Furthermore, Easton et al. (2013) found that men who had been sexually abused as children indicated moderate levels of PTG. Schaefer et al. (2018) reported that, for their sample of men and women who had been victims of physical violence or traumatic sexual experiences before 18 years of age, the mean PTG score reflected moderate-to-high levels of growth. The existing literature suggests, therefore, that posttraumatic growth may be prevalent in survivors of interpersonal violence.

The level of posttraumatic growth experienced by victims of interpersonal trauma can be influenced by a number of factors. Coping styles (e.g., Cole & Lynn, 2010;

Schaefer et al., 2018) and deliberate rumination (e.g., Allbaugh et al., 2016; Cárdenas Castro et al., 2019), for example, have been associated with PTG outcomes for survivors of interpersonal violence. Another factor that is relevant to interpersonal violence and PTG is social support (e.g., Frazier et al., 2004; Gasparre et al., 2010; Hawley et al., 2017). Tedeschi and Calhoun (2004) highlighted the importance of support from others in their model of PTG. It has been theorized that adequate social support can be a crucial resource for processing the impact of trauma and for changing an individual's perspective of oneself and the world (Tedeschi, 1999; Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004).

Some research (e.g., Frazier et al., 2004; Hawker & Nino, 2017) provides evidence for the association between social support and PTG. In a qualitative study (Hawker & Nino, 2017), for instance, combat veterans believed that their supportive friends and family contributed to their personal growth after wartime experiences. Similarly, Frazier et al. (2004) found that higher amounts and greater quality of perceived social support were associated with higher levels of PTG in a clinical sample of women who sought treatment for sexual assault. These examples of previous research suggest that social support may be positively correlated with personal growth in survivors of interpersonal violence, with more perceived social support being associated with higher levels of PTG.

There are studies (e.g., Schaefer et al., 2018; Stermac et al., 2014), however, that have not found a statistically significant relationship between social support and growth after interpersonal trauma. Stermac et al. (2014), for example, found that social support did not mediate the relationship between posttraumatic stress symptoms and PTG in their predominately female sample of sexual assault survivors. Furthermore, in a study of male survivors of childhood sexual abuse (Easton et al., 2013), supportive reactions to the disclosure of the abuse were not significantly related to levels of PTG. In a recent study of college students who had experienced child abuse (Schaefer et al., 2018), social support was associated with the related concept of resilience, but not with posttraumatic growth. This suggests that the potential influence that social support may have on levels of PTG needs to be researched further in order to understand the inconsistent findings in the existing literature.

Overall, studies (e.g., Elderton et al., 2017; Schaefer et al., 2018) have found that victims of interpersonal violence generally indicate having experienced some degree of PTG after their traumatic experiences. Posttraumatic growth may be impacted by a variety of factors. Social support, for example, has been related to personal growth for female sexual assault survivors (e.g., Frazier et al., 2004) and combat veterans (Hawker & Nino, 2017). Considering the variance in the available literature, though, the role of social support in the personal growth of survivors of interpersonal trauma is a topic that warrants further investigation.

PTG in Survivors of Intimate Partner Violence

As mentioned above, intimate partner violence (IPV) is one subclassification of interpersonal violence (WHO, 2002). Self-reported growth in victims of intimate partner abuse has garnered the interest of researchers. Cobb et al. (2006), for example, investigated PTG in 60 women who had experienced physical and/or nonphysical partner abuse and who had been utilizing the services of domestic violence shelters. In that survey, posttraumatic growth was measured using the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory

(PTGI, Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). The mean PTGI score reported by Cobb et al. (2006) reflected moderate levels of personal growth in that sample.

Other studies (e.g., Samios et al., 2020; Valdez & Lilly, 2015) have yielded similar findings. Valdez and Lilly (2015), for instance, studied PTG in a clinical sample of 23 women who had experienced physical IPV within the 6 months prior to data collection. The majority (87%) of those women indicated that they had experienced personal growth in the aftermath of their abuse. It is important to note, however, that three women included in that study indicated an average item rating score that was less than 1, which was considered by the researchers (Valdez & Lilly, 2015) to represent no posttraumatic growth. Though some women did not indicate having experienced PTG, the mean PTG score for participants of that study reflected a moderate degree of growth.

Bakaityte et al. (2020) explored posttraumatic growth in a Lithuanian sample of 217 female survivors of physical, sexual, psychological, and/or economic IPV. The women were recruited to participate in that longitudinal study through shelters, support centers, and psychologists. Bakaityte et al. (2020) found that, on average, the women indicated moderate levels of PTG at the onset of the study. Another key finding of that study was that levels of posttraumatic growth increased as time since the victimization increased. Increases in PTG scores were especially pronounced throughout the first 2 years after the end of the abusive relationship.

Samios et al.'s (2020) online study is another example of recent research in this area. That study was focused on men and women who had experienced psychological abuse by a partner. Overall scores on the PTGI indicated that the sample experienced a moderate degree of growth after victimization. It also is important to note that statistically significant gender differences emerged in the analyses for that study, with the mean PTGI score for women being higher than the mean score for men.

Studies such as these (Bakaitytė et al., 2020; Cobb et al., 2006; Samios et al., 2020; Valdez & Lilly, 2015) suggest that IPV survivors may experience at least moderate levels of posttraumatic growth. It is important to consider, however, that the majority of these studies (e.g., Bakaitytė et al., 2020; Valdez & Lilly, 2015) were conducted with entirely female samples. Considering that Samios et al. (2020) found that women had PTG scores that were statistically significantly higher than those of men, the findings of some of the studies discussed in this section (e.g., Bakaitytė et al., 2020; Valdez & Lilly, 2015) may not be generalizable to men who have experienced IPV. Further, many studies on this topic have utilized clinical samples gathered from community support centers (e.g., Bakaityte et al., 2020). Given that IPV has been found to be prevalent in university samples (e.g., Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016), it may be useful to collect data on IPV and PTG in undergraduate students. It also is important to note that stalking or harassing behaviors were not included in the conceptualization and measurement of partner abuse for many of the studies discussed in this section (e.g., Valdez & Lilly, 2015). According to Smith et al. (2018), an estimated 10% of women and 2% of men experience stalking by an intimate partner within their lifetime. This highlights the need for IPV research that takes partner harassment and/or stalking into consideration, investigates partner violence in college students, and includes male survivors of IPV.

PTG and Social Support in Survivors of IPV

As discussed previously, social support may be related to levels of PTG after interpersonal trauma (e.g., Hawker & Nino, 2017). The existing literature (e.g., Brosi et al., 2020; Žukauskienė et al., 2019) suggests that the same may be true for victims of intimate partner violence. A mixed methods study by Anderson et al. (2012), for example, investigated the factors that influenced the recovery process for 37 women who had been in relationships in which their male partners were physically, sexually, or verbally abusive. When asked to discuss their experiences in interviews, many of the women spoke of finding new meaning in life and of discovering the unexpected benefits of their trauma in terms of their interpersonal relationships, spiritual or religious values, and self-awareness. Additionally, Anderson et al. (2012) noted that the majority of their participants perceived that access to formal, informal, and spiritual social support had been instrumental to their recovery and growth.

A recent qualitative study (Brosi et al., 2020) explored the experiences of 32 women who currently were or recently had been using the services of domestic violence shelters. Social support was one of the four themes to emerge from analyzing interview data. Participants mentioned receiving support from a variety of sources, including friends, family, and religious organizations. The women described numerous ways in which social support had been beneficial. Some women thought, for example, that supportive others had guided them to change their perspective of themselves or to view their lives in a more positive way. For those women, social support seemed to facilitate growth after their abusive experiences.

Valentine et al. (2013) studied the PTG experiences of 28 men who had received HIV diagnoses and had been in physically, emotionally, and/or sexually abusive samesex relationships. Participants were recruited from an outpatient care clinic, and they were included in that qualitative study if their medical records noted a previous disclosure of being abused by a partner prior to their HIV diagnosis. In their interviews, the men assigned positive meaning to their IPV experiences in various ways. Common themes, for example, included being better able to relate to others, having a greater sense of personal strength, and discovering new hobbies or interests as a result of their abuse. Several of the men noted that support from healthcare providers, friends, or pets had helped them to redefine their sense of self-worth after the abuse. It is important to note, however, that though some participants mentioned the importance of support, others discussed a lack of adequate social support from their peers.

Quantitative studies (e.g., Cobb et al., 2006; Žukauskienė et al., 2019) have corroborated the association between social support and levels of posttraumatic growth. Žukauskienė et al. (2019), for instance, researched identity processes (e.g., ruminative exploration and commitment making) and PTG in a sample of 217 Lithuanian women who had been physically, sexually, psychologically, and/or economically abused by a romantic partner. In that study, social support was positively correlated with PTG levels and manifestations of the five identity processes studied, with higher levels of support from others being associated with higher levels of growth and identity development. Social support, along with other factors such as time since the abuse and abuse severity, positively predicted PTG for that sample. The authors (Žukauskienė et al., 2019) interpreted those results to indicate that supportive others may facilitate posttraumatic growth, as well as identity exploration and development, in victims of intimate partner violence.

Cobb et al. (2006) also explored correlates and predictors of PTG in their sample of 60 female survivors of physical and nonphysical partner abuse. Women who had left the abusive relationship indicated higher levels of PTG than did women who were still romantically involved with the abusive partner. Moreover, women who knew someone who had experienced growth after being victimized by a partner also had higher PTG scores compared to women who had no such role model. The results of that research (Cobb et al., 2006) indicated that posttraumatic growth may be influenced by factors such as whether or not the victim is still in the abusive relationship and whether or not the victim has access to a role model of personal growth after IPV in their social support network.

It is important to note that the majority of previous studies (e.g., Cobb et al., 2006) have investigated the relationship between social support and posttraumatic growth after IPV in entirely female samples. Related research (e.g., Bhat & Rangaiah, 2015; Sattler et al., 2018), though, suggests that social support may play a role in PTG for male trauma victims, as well. Support from others, for example, has been related to PTG in men who have been exposed to the armed conflict in Kashmir (Bhat & Rangaiah, 2015) and in men and women who have experienced natural disasters in Indonesia (Sattler et al., 2018). In other related research, such as a study by Pierce et al. (2018), higher levels of perceived social support have been linked to higher levels of life satisfaction for men who had been emotionally abused by their caregivers in childhood.

Overall, the available literature suggests that social support may be related to levels of posttraumatic growth for victims of IPV (e.g., Brosi et al., 2020). Specifically, higher levels of perceived social support seem to be associated with higher levels of PTG (e.g., Žukauskienė et al., 2019). The existing research (e.g., Cobb et al., 2006) on social support and PTG following partner violence has focused primarily on female victims. Related research (e.g., Pierce et al., 2018), however, suggests that social support may be related to levels of growth for male victims of interpersonal trauma. Considering the available research, it is possible that support from others could be associated with how men who have been abused by their romantic partners experience posttraumatic growth, as well.

This review of the existing research reiterates the need for studies that include male victims, especially to gain insight into potential gender differences in the relationship between social support and posttraumatic growth for IPV survivors. The existing literature does not address the potential gender differences in social support as a moderator variable between intimate partner violence and posttraumatic growth. Related research (e.g., Smith et al., 2013; Sperry & Widom, 2015), however, suggests that such gender differences may exist. Sperry and Widom (2013, 2015), for example, found that social support was more important for women than for men in their study of adults who had been abused in childhood. In particular, higher levels of social support were related to statistically significantly lower levels of symptoms of anxiety and depression for women, but higher levels of social support had a much smaller impact for men (Sperry & Widom, 2015). Furthermore, Smith et al. (2013) found gender differences in the type of social support that moderated the relationship between exposure to military stressors and posttraumatic stress symptoms. In that study (Smith et al., 2013), military social support was associated with lower levels of symptoms for men, but civilian social support was associated with lower levels of symptoms for women. Considering the findings of related research, it may be beneficial to explore potential gender differences in social support as a moderator of the relationship between IPV victimization and PTG.

Summary and Purpose

Intimate partner violence can include physical, sexual, and psychological abuse as well as partner harassment (CDC, 2019; Smith et al., 2018). To summarize the existing literature, research conducted in the U.S. (e.g., Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016) has suggested that intimate partner violence is prevalent among university students. Dardis et al. (2020), for example, found that 45% of women and 60% of men had been victims of psychological IPV, and 11% of women and 26% of men had been victims of physical IPV within the past year. A number of negative correlates of IPV victimization have been identified, including PTSD and symptoms of anxiety and depression (e.g., Cody et al., 2017). There is research (e.g., Samios et al., 2020), however, that indicates that it is possible for IPV survivors to experience positive changes, as well. These positive changes, often referred to as posttraumatic growth (PTG), can occur in five domains according to Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996): relating to others, new possibilities, personal strength, spiritual change, and appreciation of life.

Posttraumatic growth has been researched in survivors of numerous types of trauma, such as bereavement (e.g., Stein et al., 2018), cancer (e.g., Romeo et al., 2020), natural disasters (e.g., Manove et al., 2019), and intimate partner violence (e.g., Valdez & Lilly, 2015). Overall, an estimated 52% of people who report some type of traumatic experience indicate moderate-to-high levels of PTG (Wu et al., 2019). PTG after an adverse event may be impacted by the nature of the traumatic experience (Lowe et al., 2020), the gender of the victim (Vishnevsky et al., 2010), and the victim's perceived social support (Žukauskienė et al., 2019). These factors must be considered when studying posttraumatic growth.

In terms of PTG for survivors of intimate partner violence, research (e.g., Samios et al., 2020; Valdez & Lilly, 2015) has found that people who have been abused by a romantic partner often indicate experiencing moderate levels of personal growth. Though findings are mixed, some research (e.g., Žukauskienė et al., 2019) suggests that levels of PTG for IPV survivors may be related to social support, with higher levels of social support being associated with higher levels of growth. It is important to note, however, that the majority of the available literature focuses on clinical samples of female victims of IPV (e.g., Valdez & Lilly, 2015). Considering that IPV has been found to be prevalent in university samples (e.g., Dardis et al., 2020), more research is needed to investigate posttraumatic growth experiences for college students who have been in abusive romantic relationships. Further, given that some studies (e.g., Rutter et al., 2012) have found that men and women indicate similar rates of IPV victimization, it is important that future research on PTG in survivors of partner violence include men in their samples. Moreover, many studies of partner abuse (e.g., Samios et al., 2020; Valdez & Lilly, 2015) do not include harassment and/or stalking in their measurement of IPV. Future studies, therefore, also may benefit from utilizing measures that incorporate items relating to intimate partner harassment in order to gain a broader sense of the types of abuse that are experienced by IPV victims.

The purpose of the current study was to investigate the relationship between intimate partner violence victimization and posttraumatic growth. Further, the moderating role of perceived social support was examined in a mixed sample of male and female undergraduate students. This made it possible to assess for a potential gender difference in perceived social support as a moderator for the relationship between PTG scores and scores on a measure of intimate partner violence in a university sample. The proposed study, therefore, was designed to expand upon previous research and address areas that have been largely overlooked in the existing literature. There were several hypotheses that were relevant to this study.

H1: It was predicted that there would be statistically significant gender differences for mean scores on the Composite Abuse Scale (CAS, Hegarty et al., 1999, 2005), the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS, Zimet et al., 1988), and the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory (PTGI, Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). Specifically, Welch *t*-tests for independent samples were expected to show that the mean scores for each of these measures were statistically significantly higher for women than for men.

H2: It was hypothesized that total scores on the CAS (Hegarty et al., 1999, 2005) would be positively and statistically significantly correlated with total scores on the PTGI (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996) when correlational analyses were conducted for men and women individually as well as for the overall sample. It was expected that higher scores on the CAS would be related to higher scores on the PTGI for both genders and for the overall sample.

H3: It also was predicted that total scores on the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS, Zimet et al., 1988) would be positively and statistically significantly correlated with total scores on the PTGI (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996) when analyses were conducted for men and women separately and for the overall sample. Further, MSPSS total scores also were expected to be negatively and statistically significantly correlated with total scores on the CAS (Hegarty et al., 1999, 2005) for the overall sample as well as for both genders.

H4: It was further hypothesized that both perceived social support and participant gender would be statistically significant moderators for the relationship between intimate partner victimization and posttraumatic growth. For this multiple regression model, CAS total scores, gender, overall MSPSS scores, the interaction of participant gender with CAS scores, the interaction of MSPSS scores with CAS scores, and the interaction of gender with MSPSS scores were considered to be the potential predictors of overall PTGI scores. In light of related research (e.g., Sperry & Widom, 2015), it was expected that the interaction between MSPSS scores and gender would be statistically significant, with social support expected to be a stronger moderator for PTGI scores for women than for men.

Additionally, exploratory correlational analyses were conducted for this study. Specifically, intercorrelations among the subscale scores on the MSPSS (Zimet et al., 1988, Family, Friends, and Significant Others), the CAS (Hegarty et al., 1999, Physical Abuse, Emotional Abuse, and Harassment), and the PTGI (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996, Relating to Others, New Possibilities, Personal Strength, Spiritual Change, and Appreciation of Life) were examined. There were no a priori hypotheses regarding the relationships among the subscales of these measures.

CHAPTER II: METHOD

Participants

After obtaining IRB approval (See Appendices A and B), participants were recruited from the Psychology Research Pool at Middle Tennessee State University between the months of February and April of 2021. Students had to be at least 18 years old to participate in the current study, and they earned 1 research credit in their psychology class for their participation. The original sample for this online study included 158 participants. Participants who were missing a substantial amount of data (2 participants) or responded "Other/I prefer not to respond" with regard to their gender (6 participants) were excluded from the final analyses. Of the remaining 150 participants (104 women and 46 men), those whose responses on the Composite Abuse Scale (Hegarty et al., 2005) indicated no history of adult intimate relationships (2 female participants) or no history of IPV (62 participants: 43 women and 19 men) were not included in analyses for the current study. The final sample size for the current study, therefore, was 86 (27 men and 59 women). As shown in Table 1, the final sample predominantly identified themselves as being White/Caucasian (61.63%) and between 18 and 21 years of age (83.72%).

Measures

Demographics. Information about gender (e.g., *Male; Female; Other/I prefer not to respond*), ethnicity (*White/Caucasian; Black/African American; Other; I prefer not to respond*), and age (e.g., 18-21; 22-25; 26 or older; I prefer not to respond) were gathered

Table 1

Demographic Frequencies of Final Sample

Variable	%	n	
Gender			
Men	31.40	27	
Women	68.60	59	
Ethnicity			
White/ Caucasian	61.63	53	
Black/ African American	22.09	19	
Other	15.12	13	
Prefer not to respond	1.16	1	
Age (in years)			
18-21	83.72	72	
22-25	9.30	8	
26+	6.98	6	

Note. *N* = 86.

from participants. Refer to Appendix C. Response options for participant demographic information had been carefully worded in an attempt to make those who participated in the study less inadvertently identifiable. Further, an option not to disclose demographic information was offered for each of these items (i.e., *I prefer not to respond*).

The Composite Abuse Scale. The Composite Abuse Scale (CAS, Hegarty et al., 1999, 2005) is a 30-item measure that assesses physical, psychological, and sexual IPV along with partner harassment. Participants indicate how often they experienced each abusive behavior within the past 12 months, or in their most recent relationship if they have not been in a romantic relationship in the past year. Responses are given on a Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (*never*) to 5 (*daily*). This measure has four subscales: Severe Combined Abuse (e.g., "Used a knife or gun or other weapon"), Physical Abuse (e.g., "Pushed, grabbed or shoved me"), Emotional Abuse (e.g., "Told me that I wasn't good enough"), and Harassment (e.g., "Followed me"). It also provides a total score, with possible scores ranging from 0 to 150. The total score was used for hypothesis testing for the current study.

The CAS was normed and validated with data collected from Australian women (Hegarty et al., 1999, 2005). Internal consistencies of the subscales of the original measure ranged from .91 to .95 (Hegarty et al., 1999). In the preliminary validation of the measure (Hegarty et al., 1999), scores on the CAS were found to be positively correlated with scores on the Conflict Tactics Scale (Straus, 1979, as cited by Hegarty et al., 1999). In another study of the reliability and validity of the CAS, Hegarty et al. (2005) reduced the length of the measure to the current 30-item form. Subscale internal consistencies for the 30-item CAS ranged from .87 to .94, with the internal consistency

for the overall measure being .85 (Hegarty et al., 2005). Scores on the updated 30-item CAS also were found to be positively correlated with self-ratings of abuse, which demonstrated the measure's validity (Hegarty et al., 2005).

The CAS has been used for several studies within the U.S. (e.g., Beck, 2013; Camarillo-Daley, 2014). It also has been utilized with U.S. college samples (e.g., Neal et al., 2015; Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016). The authors of the CAS note in the manual (Hegarty & Valpied, 2013) that the measure has limited validity for male IPV survivors. The CAS, however, has performed as expected in U.S. research that has involved male participants. For example, in a study for which analyses were conducted separately based on participant gender, CAS scores were found to be appropriately correlated with suicidal ideation for both men and women (Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016). Further, in a study for which analyses were conducted with data from men and women combined, CAS scores were found to be highly correlated with scores on another measure of IPV (Turell et al., 2018). Moreover, the reported internal consistencies of the overall CAS in studies that included men generally have been good (e.g., .97, Turell et al., 2018). Results from several studies within the U.S. (e.g., Turell et al., 2018; Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016), therefore, provide evidence that the Composite Abuse Scale may be valid for use with samples that include men.

It is important to note that the recommended cutoff score of 3 (Hegarty & Valpied, 2013) was not used for the current study. In order to obtain an adequate final sample, a total cut-off score of 1 was used in order to report the prevalence of IPV in the current sample and to determine participant inclusion in the current study; this would include any participant indicating experiencing any form of victimization on at least one

occasion. Therefore, participants who indicated having experienced no IPV, as denoted by a score of 0 on the CAS, were excluded from the analyses conducted for the current study. Other researchers (e.g., Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016) also have utilized this less stringent cutoff score for their studies in order to report the prevalence of IPV in their samples. Moreover, in consideration of the likelihood that some participants may have never been in an adult intimate relationship, as defined by the CAS, data collected from those who indicated not having been in a relationship since they were 16 years old were not included in analyses.

Overall scores on the CAS were used for hypothesis testing. Subscale scores (Physical Abuse, Emotional Abuse, and Harassment) were included in exploratory correlational analyses. For the current study, Cronbach's coefficient alpha for the total scale was .93. Internal consistencies for the physical abuse, emotional abuse, and harassment subscales were .89, .91, and .61, respectively.

Descriptive relationship items. Refer to Appendix D for the descriptive relationship items. In order to gain a better understanding of participants' relationships, three author-constructed items were included in the questionnaire. These items inquired about the number of relationships that participants described while responding to the CAS and whether or not participants were still in one of the relationships for which they had responded.

The Posttraumatic Growth Inventory. The Posttraumatic Growth Inventory (PTGI, Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996) was used to assess PTG. This measure is a 21-item self-report scale. Participants rated perceived positive changes since their abusive relationship on a Likert-type scale with response options ranging from 0 (*did not*

experience) to 5 (*experienced to a very great degree*). This measure has a subscale for each of the five factors of PTG: Relating to Others (e.g., "I have more compassion for others"), New Possibilities (e.g., "I developed new interests"), Personal Strength (e.g., "I have a greater feeling of self-reliance"), Spiritual Change (e.g., "I have a stronger religious faith"), and Appreciation of Life (e.g., "I can better appreciate each day"). The PTGI, therefore, yields subscale scores and a total score. Total scores on the PTGI can range from 0 to 105, with higher scores indicating higher levels of posttraumatic growth.

In the normative sample of undergraduate students (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996), the PTGI had an overall internal consistency of $\alpha = .90$. Other studies that have utilized the PTGI with university samples (e.g., Kramer et al., 2020; Schaefer et al., 2018) have reported adequate internal consistencies, as well. The PTGI demonstrated adequate testretest reliability at 2 months after the preliminary testing (r = .71, Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). In preliminary validation (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996), this inventory showed adequate ability to measure positive changes that are unique to traumatic experiences, with individuals who had reported severe traumatic experiences indicating statistically significantly higher levels of PTG than those who had not experienced severe trauma. The PTGI also has been validated using qualitative reports of positive impacts of trauma (Shakespeare-Finch et al., 2013) and behavioral changes following traumatic experiences (Shakespeare-Finch & Barrington, 2012). The internal consistency of the full scale PTGI for the current study was .92; Cronbach's coefficient alphas for the subscales were .89 for the Relating to Others subscale, .78 for New Possibilities, .73 for Personal Strength, .76 for Spiritual Change, and .52 for Appreciation of Life.

The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS, Zimet et al., 1988) assesses perceived social support on a Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (*very strongly disagree*) to 7 (*very strongly agree*). This measure is comprised of three subscales that allow participants to rate support from friends (e.g., "I can talk about my problems with my friends"), family (e.g., "My family really tries to help me"), and significant others (e.g., "I have a special person who is a real source of comfort to me"). Possible subscale scores range from 4 to 28, and full scale MSPSS scores can range from 12 to 84. Higher scores indicate higher levels of perceived social support.

The MSPSS originally was normed and validated in a sample of male and female university students, and the internal reliability for the total scale was α = .88 (Zimet et al., 1988). Studies with U.S. undergraduate students (e.g., Lamis et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2017) have provided further evidence of this measure's reliability. The MSPSS also demonstrated adequate test-retest reliability at 2 to 3 months after the initial testing (.85, Zimet et al., 1988). In terms of construct validity, the authors of the measure (Zimet et al., 1988) found scores on the MSPSS to be negatively correlated with symptoms of depression and anxiety, with higher levels of perceived social support being associated with lower levels of depression and anxiety symptoms. For the current study, the Cronbach's coefficient alpha for the full scale MSPSS was .88. Internal consistencies for the Friends, Family, and Significant Other subscales were .94, .91, and .96, respectively. **Procedure**

After IRB approval was granted, informed consent was collected from participants before they began the survey (see Appendix E). Participants were given the questionnaires in an online format. Demographic information (i.e., gender, age, ethnicity) was collected first, followed by the MSPSS (Zimet et al., 1988), the CAS (Hegarty et al., 2005), the descriptive relationship items, and the PTGI (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996). Participants were debriefed after completing the study, and they were given contact information for the principal investigator and the faculty advisor. Participants also were presented with intimate partner violence resources in the debriefing form (see Appendix F). Data from participants who indicated no history of adult intimate relationships, as defined by the Composite Abuse scale as a relationship since the age of 16 years that lasted at least 1 month (Hegarty et al., 2005), were excluded from analyses. Further, data from participants who indicated having experienced no IPV, represented by a CAS (Hegarty et al., 2005) total score of 0, also were not included in analyses for the current study.

CHAPTER III: RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Eighty-six of the original 158 participants qualified for inclusion in the current study. For this study, an almost equal percentage of men (59%) and women (57%) indicated at least one abusive experience, $\chi^2(1) = .052$, p = .8225, with the IPV prevalence for the overall sample being roughly 57%. Further, the majority of participants (84%) responded to the CAS with a single relationship in mind, but 14 participants (16%) responded for multiple relationships, all of which had occurred in the past year. Moreover, of these 86 participants who had indicated experiencing partner abuse, 40 participants (47%) indicated that they were still in at least one of the romantic relationships for which they had responded. Just below 28% of participants indicated that they had been afraid of a romantic partner at some point in their lives. Regarding growth after IPV, on average, the current sample indicated moderate-to-high levels of PTG.

Hypotheses Testing

Hypothesis one. Hypothesis one explored gender differences in the study variables. See Table 2 for means and the results of the Welch's *t*-tests. In terms of the level of victimization, CAS total scores were statistically significantly different by gender. Specifically, women indicated higher overall victimization than did men. Total scores on the MSPSS were similar for men and women, as were overall PTGI scores. Overall, hypothesis one regarding gender differences in mean scores on measures of partner abuse, social support, and posttraumatic growth was partially supported by the data.

Table 2

Variable	Overall	(N = 86)	Men (n	= 27)	Women	(n = 59)	Walah'a 4	46	Cohon's d
	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	- weich's t	af	Conen's d
CAS									
Total	13.80	17.66	8.07	6.59	16.42	20.38	-2.84**	78.39	55
Phy	2.42	4.62	1.22	2.17	2.97	5.31	-2.16*	83.31	44
Emo	8.48	10.32	5.41	4.86	9.88	11.80	-2.49*	83.41	50
Har	2.06	3.14	1.37	1.78	2.37	3.57	-1.74	83.29	12
MSPSS									
Total	62.40	13.81	66.00	11.38	60.75	14.58	1.81	63.63	.40
Fr	21.73	5.76	22.22	5.58	21.51	5.88	0.54	53.05	.12
Fam	19.52	6.38	21.67	4.63	18.54	6.85	2.48*	71.80	.54
SO	21.14	6.99	22.11	5.47	20.69	7.58	0.98	68.15	.21
PTGI									
Total	87.55	21.73	88.81	20.31	86.97	22.49	0.71	55.53	.09
Rel	26.97	9.36	28.11	9.67	26.44	9.25	0.75	48.52	.18
NP	21.99	5.67	22.26	5.32	21.86	5.86	0.31	55.29	.07
PS	17.85	4.54	17.37	4.90	18.07	4.40	-0.63	45.90	15
SC	7.06	3.55	7.19	3.22	7.00	3.71	0.24	57.66	.05
AoL	13.69	3.24	13.89	2.89	13.59	3.40	0.42	58.93	.10

Comparison of Men and Women on the Study Variables

Note. CAS = Composite Abuse Scale; Phy = Physical Abuse subscale of the CAS; Emo = Emotional Abuse subscale of the CAS; Har = Harassment subscale of the CAS; MSPSS = Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support; Fr = Friends subscale of the MSPSS; Fam = Family subscale of the MSPSS; SO = Significant Other subscale of the MSPSS; PTGI = Posttraumatic Growth Inventory; Rel = Relating to Others subscale of the PTGI; NP = New Possibilities subscale of the PTGI; PS = Personal Strength subscale of the PTGI; SC = Spiritual Change subscale of the PTGI; AoL = Appreciation of Life subscale of the PTGI. *p < .05. **p < .01.
Hypothesis two. Table 3 provides information about variable correlations for the overall sample, and Table 4 provides information about variable correlations for men and women separately. Correlational analyses for hypothesis two, which relates to the correlation between CAS total scores (Hegarty et al., 1999, 2005) and PTGI total scores (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996), were conducted for men and women independently as well as for the overall, combined sample. For the overall sample and for both genders analyzed separately, CAS total scores were not significantly correlated with PTGI total scores. Therefore, hypothesis two was not supported by the data.

Hypothesis three. See Tables 3 and 4 for correlation details. Correlational analyses for hypothesis three, which involves the correlations of MSPSS total scores with CAS total scores and PTGI total scores, also were conducted for both genders independently and for the overall, combined sample. Hypothesis three was partially supported because social support was found to be correlated with posttraumatic growth (r = .29, p = .006), but not partner abuse victimization (r = -.06, p = .585) for the overall sample. Thus, hypothesis three was partially supported because higher overall scores on the MSPSS were statistically significantly related to higher overall scores on the PTGI. It also is important to note that, when analyzed separately by gender, scores on the MSPSS were significantly correlated with scores on the PTGI for women but not for men.

Hypothesis four. In view of the lack of a significant relationship between total scores on the CAS and total scores on the PTGI, a regression model assessing for moderators was unnecessary.

Table 3

Correlations Among MSPSS, CAS, and PTGI Total and Subscale Scores for the Overall Sample

-														
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
MSPSS														
1. Total														
2. Fr	.74**													
3. Fam	.76**	.48**												
4. SO	.68**	.19	.19											
CAS														
5. Total	06	07	09	.02										
6. Phy	.02	07	03	.12	.80**									
7. Emo	08	04	06	08	.96**	.65**								
8. Har	.02	09	08	.18	.79**	.60**	.67**							
PTGI														
9. Total	.29**	.15	.20	.27*	.14	.08	.13	.14						
10. Rel	.37**	.23*	.18	.37**	.01	02	.00	.01	.89**					
11. NP	.24*	.13	.16	.22*	.18	.08	.19	.22*	.88**	.67**				
12. PS	.11	.05	.09	.09	.17	.15	.17	.10	.79**	.65**	.61**			
13. SC	.14	.03	.25*	.02	.10	.09	.08	.16	.64**	.43**	.53**	.36**		
14. AoL	.19	.05	.14	.20	.23*	.16	.23*	.21	.79**	.53**	.78**	.55**	.55**	

Note. N = 86. MSPSS = Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support; Fr = Friends subscale of the MSPSS; Fam = Family subscale of the MSPSS; SO = Significant Other subscale of the MSPSS; CAS = Composite Abuse Scale; Phy = Physical Abuse subscale of the CAS; Emo = Emotional Abuse subscale of the CAS; Har = Harassment subscale of the CAS; PTGI = Posttraumatic Growth Inventory; Rel = Relating to Others subscale of the PTGI; NP = New Possibilities subscale of the PTGI; PS = Personal Strength subscale of the PTGI; SC = Spiritual Change subscale of the PTGI; AoL = Appreciation of Life subscale of the PTGI. *p < .05. **p < .01.

Table 4

Correlations Among MSPSS, CAS, and PTGI Total and Subscale Scores for Men (n = 27) *and Women* (n = 59)

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
MSPSS														
1. Total		.79**	.72**	.67**	10	.13	24	.11	.20	.24	.17	04	.28	.06
2. Fr	.73**		.46*	.23	.04	.11	05	.14	.13	.19	.12	07	.24	07
3. Fam	.76**	.49**		.19	.01	.07	06	.18	.18	.13	.13	.03	.35	.13
4. SO	.68**	.18	.18		27	.09	40*	07	.13	.19	.12	04	.04	.08
CAS														
5. Total	01	07	05	.08		.64**	.91**	.44*	09	26	03	.01	.16	.11
6. Phy	.04	09	.00	.15	.81**		.38*	.11	03	10	.02	.02	.00	.07
7. Emo	02	02	01	02	.96**	.65**		.18	17	32	15	.00	.07	.03
8. Har	.03	13	08	.24	.82**	.64**	.70**		.18	.02	.28	.01	.38	.28
PTGI														
9. Total	.32*	.16	.20	.31*	.19	.11	.20	.15		.90**	.81**	.81**	.55**	.55**
10. Rel	.41**	.24	.18	.43**	.07	.01	.08	.03	.89**		.59**	.77**	.32	.20
11. NP	.26*	.13	.17	.25	.24	.10	.27*	.23	.90**	.70**		.43*	.47*	.64**
12. PS	.19	.12	.13	.15	.20	.17	.21	.12	.79**	.61**	.70**		.27	.34
13. SC	.09	05	.23	.01	.11	.11	.10	.13	.67**	.47**	.55**	.40**		.38*
14. AoL	.22	.09	.13	.23	.27	.19	.28*	.21	.87**	.67**	.83**	.65**	.60**	

Note. N = 86. Correlations for men are provided above the diagonal; correlations for women are provided below the diagonal. MSPSS = Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support; Fr = Friends subscale of the MSPSS; Fam = Family subscale of the MSPSS; SO = Significant Other subscale of the MSPSS; CAS = Composite Abuse Scale; Phy = Physical Abuse subscale of the CAS; Emo = Emotional Abuse subscale of the CAS; Har = Harassment subscale of the CAS; PTGI = Posttraumatic Growth Inventory; Rel = Relating to Others subscale of the PTGI; NP = New Possibilities subscale of the PTGI; PS = Personal Strength subscale of the PTGI; SC = Spiritual Change subscale of the PTGI; AoL = Appreciation of Life subscale of the PTGI. *p < .05. **p < .01.

Exploratory Analyses

Exploratory correlational analyses were conducted to investigate intercorrelations among the study variables for the overall sample and for men and women independently. Specifically, correlations among the subscale scores on the MSPSS (Zimet et al., 1988, Family, Friends, and Significant Others), the CAS (Hegarty et al., 1999, 2005, Physical Abuse, Emotional Abuse, and Harassment), and the PTGI (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1996, Relating to Others, New Possibilities, Personal Strength, Spiritual Change, and Appreciation of Life) were examined. Tables 3 and 4 contain information about all intercorrelations among subscales for this study. Several noteworthy statistically significant subscale correlations emerged.

For the overall sample, there were several significant correlations between various forms of social support and various domains of posttraumatic growth. For example, there was a positive relationship between personal growth in the domain of relating to others and social support from both friends and significant others. This suggests that social support from friends and significant others, but not from family members, may be related to experiencing improvements in an IPV survivor's ability to relate to others. Further, posttraumatic growth in the area of new possibilities was positively correlated with social support from significant others. Therefore, a greater level of support from significant others does new possibilities in their lives after the abuse. Moreover, changes in spirituality after IPV were positively related to familial social support, with higher levels of support from

family members being associated with higher scores on the PTGI Spiritual Change subscale.

Significant correlations also emerged between specific types of partner abuse and different areas of posttraumatic growth for the overall sample. Specifically, emotional abuse was positively correlated with the PTGI subscale of Appreciation of Life. Further, partner harassment was positively correlated with personal growth in the domain of new possibilities. These correlations suggest that different types of partner abuse victimization may be associated with some areas of posttraumatic growth but not others.

When analyzed separately, several statistically significant correlations became apparent for men and women. For men, emotional abuse was negatively correlated with social support from significant others, which suggests that greater levels of emotional abuse victimization may be related to lower levels of perceived social support from significant others. For women, emotional abuse subscale scores were positively correlated with both the new possibilities and appreciation of life domains of posttraumatic growth. This indicates that emotional abuse victimization may be more strongly associated with the ability to see how their lives can change and the ability to appreciate life than with other areas of personal growth for women. Further, for women, the PTGI Relating to Others subscale was positively correlated with social support from significant others, suggesting that greater levels of social support seem to be associated with greater improvements in the ability to relate to others.

CHAPTER IV: DISCUSSION

Research (e.g., Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016) suggests that intimate partner violence is prevalent among university students in the United States. Wolford-Clevenger et al. (2016), for example, found that 53% of their U.S. university sample indicated having experienced some form of physical abuse, emotional abuse, or harassment in a relationship. A number of negative correlates of IPV victimization, such as symptoms of anxiety and depression, have been recognized in the existing literature (e.g., Cody et al., 2017). There is research (e.g., Samios et al., 2020; Valdez & Lilly, 2015), however, that suggests that survivors of partner violence also may experience posttraumatic growth after the abuse.

The current study was designed to investigate the moderating effects of participant gender and perceived social support on the relationship between intimate partner violence victimization and posttraumatic growth in a sample of 86 undergraduate students. The prevalence of IPV found in this sample (57%) was similar to those reported in other studies (e.g., Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016). This further demonstrates that partner abuse is a significant concern for university students within the United States. Further, the mean PTGI score for this sample reflects a moderate-to-high degree of posttraumatic growth, which is consistent with levels of growth found in other samples of IPV survivors (e.g., Samios et al., 2020). Contrary to what was hypothesized, however, overall abuse scores were not statistically significantly and positively correlated with overall posttraumatic growth scores; consequently, no moderation analyses were necessary. There may be several explanations for this deviation from the existing literature (e.g., Žukauskienė et al., 2019). For example, participants for this study were undergraduate university students, and many other studies (e.g., Bakaitytė et al., 2020) have utilized clinical samples. Further, the current study, unlike many others (e.g., Valdez & Lilly, 2015, Žukauskienė et al., 2019) included men. Vishnevsky et al. (2010) found that women generally indicate higher levels of posttraumatic growth than men after traumatic experiences and, as such, the use of a college sample that included male survivors of IPV may have impacted the relationships among variables for the overall sample.

Another noteworthy point of divergence is that the current study included partner harassment in the definition and operationalization of partner abuse. Many other studies have focused primarily on physical (e.g., Valdez & Lilly, 2015) and psychological (e.g., Samios et al., 2020) abuse. Lowe et al. (2020) found that different forms of trauma may lead to different posttraumatic growth experiences. As such, the use of a broader definition of partner abuse and the inclusion of partner harassment, a form of IPV that often is not included in research, may explain why the findings of the current study are inconsistent with some of the existing literature.

Further, in order to ensure that an adequate sample was obtained, a more inclusive cutoff score of 1 on the CAS was used to determine inclusion in this study. The authors of the CAS recommend a cutoff score of 3 (Hegarty & Valpied, 2013), and the inability to adhere to that recommendation may have impacted the findings of this research. Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996) found that PTGI scores were significantly higher for people

who had experienced severe trauma than for those who had not. Roughly 20% of participants included in the current study had a CAS score below the recommended cutoff of 3. It is possible, therefore, that including individuals who had indicated less severe and/or less frequent abusive experiences also could have affected the relationships among the study variables. Specifically, PTGI scores may be more strongly correlated with CAS scores in samples that only include participants who indicate experiencing more severe and/or more frequent abuse.

Although the hypotheses were not supported by the data, an interesting pattern of correlations did emerge. For example, various forms of social support were associated with a variety of domains of posttraumatic growth for women. The same was not true, however, for men. This could suggest that the relationship between social support and posttraumatic growth varies based on the gender of the partner abuse survivor. Related research (Milner et al., 2016) has, for example, found social support to be more beneficial for the mental health of women than for men. The correlational differences found in this study also may be related to research (Martínez-Hernáez et al., 2016) that suggests that men and women value different forms of social support in times of emotional distress. In interpreting these findings, however, it also is important to recognize that there were fewer men than women in the sample and, consequently, a statistically significant relationship was less likely to emerge for men than for women.

Several limitations are evident in the current study. First, this study utilized a sample of undergraduate students recruited from a midsized university setting. With this in mind, it is possible that the results from these participants cannot be generalized to the

general population or to samples collected in other settings. Further, the sample for this study included 59 women and 27 men. For the purpose of exploring gender differences in social support and posttraumatic growth after experiencing partner abuse, a larger sample may have been more advantageous. Moreover, gender differences were of particular interest and, as such, data collected from participants who indicated "other" on the demographic item pertaining to their gender identity were excluded from analyses. As a result, valuable information regarding the posttraumatic growth experiences of those belonging to gender minorities were not addressed in this study.

It also is important to note that the measure of partner abuse used for this research (the CAS; Hegarty et al., 1999, 2005) originally was not designed or normed for male participants. A limited body of research (e.g., Turell et al., 2018; Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016) suggests that the CAS may be valid for use with men, but it may be the case that the measure was not appropriate for this particular sample. Perhaps, a measure of IPV with more diverse or inclusively worded items would have been more useful for this project.

Finally, in interpreting these results, it must be noted that data for this project were collected during the timeframe of the COVID-19 pandemic. The prevalence of IPV found in the current study is similar to those found in studies pre-pandemic (e.g., Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016). It is possible, however, that the restrictions implemented to minimize exposure to the virus may have influenced the frequency and nature of interactions among partners. Moreover, access to social support from friends, family, and significant others likely was influenced by the pandemic for these participants. As such, the relationships among the study variables may have been affected by changes due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

In spite of its limitations, the current study builds upon previous research and may encourage more diverse research projects in the future. As found in other studies (e.g., Wolford-Clevenger et al., 2016), the high prevalence of IPV found in this study suggests that partner abuse is a serious concern for university students. Those interested in exploring this topic further could expand upon this study in a number of ways. Researchers could, for example, explore differences in social support and PTG among a more inclusive range of gender identities (e.g., nonbinary), as much of the existing literature, including this study, has focused exclusively on participants who identify as men and women. Future projects also may aim to collect data from larger samples in order to explore the differential relationships among social support, posttraumatic growth, and different forms of IPV, including partner harassment.

REFERENCES

- Affleck, G., Tennen, H., Croog, S., & Levine, S. (1987). Causal attribution, perceived benefits, and morbidity after a heart attack: An 8-year study. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 55(1), 29-35.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.55.1.29
- Albuquerque, S., Narciso, I., & Pereira, M. (2018). Posttraumatic growth in bereaved parents: A multidimensional model of associated factors. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, *10*(2), 199-207. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000305
- Allbaugh, L. J., Wright, M. O., & Folger, S. F. (2016). The role of repetitive thought in determining posttraumatic growth and distress following interpersonal trauma. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping: An International Journal*, 29(1), 21-37.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2015.1015422
- Anderson, K. M., Renner, L. M., & Danis, F. S. (2012). Recovery: Resilience and growth in the aftermath of domestic violence. *Violence Against Women*, 18(11), 1279-1299. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801212470543
- Arpawong, T. E., Oland, A., Milam, J. E., Ruccione, K., & Meeske, K. A. (2013). Posttraumatic growth among an ethnically diverse sample of adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. *Psycho-Oncology*, 22(10), 2235-2244. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3286

Bakaitytė, A., Kaniušonytė, G., Truskauskaitė-Kunevičienė, I., & Žukauskienė, R.

(2020). Longitudinal investigation of posttraumatic growth in female survivors of intimate partner violence: The role of event centrality and identity exploration. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. Advance online publication.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520920864

- Baker, J. M., Kelly, C., Calhoun, L. G., Cann, A., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2008). An examination of posttraumatic growth and posttraumatic depreciation: Two exploratory studies. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, *13*(5), 450-465. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325020802171367
- Bao, Y., Bertoia, M. L., Lenart, E. B., Stampfer, M. J., Willett, W. C., Speizer, F. E., & Chavarro, J. E. (2016). Origin, methods, and evolution of the three Nurses' Health Studies. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(9), 1573-1581. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303338
- Barlow, M. R., & Hetzel-Riggin, M. D. (2018). Predicting posttraumatic growth in survivors of interpersonal trauma: Gender role adherence is more important than gender. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 19(3), 446-456. https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000128
- Beck, S. E. (2013). Does intimate partner violence affect the acceptability of expedited partner therapy? (Publication No. 1540225) [Master's thesis, State University of New York at Albany]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.

Bhat, R. M., & Rangaiah, B. (2015). The impact of conflict exposure and social support on posttraumatic growth among the young adults in Kashmir. *Cogent Psychology*, 2(1), Article 1000077. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2014.1000077

Brosi, M., Rolling, E., Gaffney, C., & Kitch, B. (2020). Beyond resilience: Glimpses into women's posttraumatic growth after experiencing intimate partner violence. *American Journal of Family Therapy*, 48(1), 1-15.
https://doi.org/10.1080/01926187.2019.1691084

- Burt, M. R., & Katz, B. L. (1987). Dimensions of recovery from rape: Focus on growth outcomes. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 2(1), 57-81. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626087002001004
- Camarillo-Daley, L. (2014). Intimate partner violence perpetrated by police officers: A study of the prevalence rate (Publication No. 3582489) [Doctoral dissertation, the Wright Institute Graduate School of Psychology]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Cárdenas Castro, M., Arnoso Martínez, M., & Faúndez Abarca, X. (2019). Deliberate rumination and positive reappraisal as serial mediators between life impact and posttraumatic growth in victims of State terrorism in Chile (1973-1990). *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *34*(3), 545-561.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516642294

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). *Preventing intimate partner violence*.

https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/intimatepartnerviolence/fastfact.html

- Chan, K. L., Straus, M. A., Brownridge, D. A., Tiwari, A., & Leung, W. C. (2008).
 Prevalence of dating partner violence and suicidal ideation among male and female university students worldwide. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 53(6), 529-537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmwh.2008.04.016
- Chen, J., Zebrack, B., Embry, L., Freyer, D. R., Aguilar, C., & Cole, S. (2020). Profiles of emotional distress and growth among adolescents and young adults with cancer: A longitudinal study. *Health Psychology*, 39(5), 370-380. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000843
- Chen, J., Zhou, X., Zeng, M., & Wu, X. (2015). Post-traumatic stress symptoms and posttraumatic growth: Evidence from a longitudinal study following an earthquake disaster. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(6), Article e0127241. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127241
- Cobb, A. R., Tedeschi, R. G., Calhoun, L. G., & Cann, A. (2006). Correlates of posttraumatic growth in survivors of intimate partner violence. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 19(6), 895-903. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20171
- Cody, M. W., Jones, J. M., Woodward, M. J., Simmons, C. A., & Beck, J. G. (2017).
 Correspondence between self-report measures and clinician assessments of psychopathology in female intimate partner violence survivors. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *32*(10), 1501-1523.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515589566

Cole, A. S., & Lynn, S. J. (2010). Adjustment of sexual assault survivors: Hardiness and acceptance coping in posttraumatic growth. *Imagination, Cognition and Personality*, 30(1), 111-127. https://doi.org/10.2190/IC.30.1.g

Dardis, C. M., Edwards, K. M., Kelley, E. L., & Gidycz, C. A. (2020). Exploring crossday associations among intimate partner violence victimization, relationship investment, and perpetration among undergraduate men and women: A daily diary approach. *Psychology of Violence*, 10(5), 552-563. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000293

- Easton, S. D., Coohey, C., Rhodes, A. M., & Moorthy, M. V. (2013). Posttraumatic growth among men with histories of child sexual abuse. *Child Maltreatment*, 18(4), 211-220. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559513503037
- Elderton, A., Berry, A., & Chan, C. (2017). A systematic review of posttraumatic growth in survivors of interpersonal violence in adulthood. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse,* 18(2), 223-236. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015611672
- Frazier, P., Tashiro, T., Berman, M., Steger, M., & Long, J. (2004). Correlates of levels and patterns of positive life changes following sexual assault. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72(1), 19-30. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.1.19
- Gasparre, A., Bosco, S., & Bellelli, G. (2010). Cognitive and social consequences of participation in social rites: Collective coping, social support, and post-traumatic growth in the victims of Guatemala genocide. *Revista de Psicología Social*, 25(1), 35-46. https://doi.org/10.1174/021347410790193513

- Grubaugh, A. L., & Resick, P. A. (2007). Posttraumatic growth in treatment-seeking female assault victims. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 78(2), 145-155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-006-9034-7
- Ha, N., Bae, S.-M., & Hyun, M.-H. (2019). The effect of forgiveness writing therapy on post-traumatic growth in survivors of sexual abuse. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, *34*(1), 10-22. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681994.2017.1327712
- Hawker, M. E., & Nino, A. (2017). Factors contributing to posttraumatic growth in Iraq and Afghanistan combat veterans. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 26(10), 1104-1116. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2017.1341442
- Hawley, C. E., Armstrong, A. J., Shiri, S., Czarnota, J., Blumenfeld, S., Schwartz, I., & Meiner, Z. (2017). Post-traumatic growth following politically motivated acts of violence: 10 years post injury. *Australian Journal of Rehabilitation Counselling*, 23(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1017/jrc.2017.6
- Hegarty, K., Bush, R., & Sheehan, M. (2005). The Composite Abuse Scale: Further development and assessment of reliability and validity of a multidimensional partner abuse measure in clinical settings. *Violence and Victims*, 20(5), 529-547. https://doi.org/10.1891/vivi.2005.20.5.529

Hegarty, K., Sheehan, M., & Schonfeld, C. (1999). A multidimensional definition of partner abuse: Development and preliminary validation of the Composite Abuse Scale. *Journal of Family Violence*, *14*(4), 399-415.
https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022834215681

- Hegarty, K., & Valpied, J. (2013). *Composite Abuse Scale: Manual*. Melbourne, Victoria, Australia: University of Melbourne.
- Kramer, L. B., Whiteman, S. E., Witte, T. K., Silverstein, M. W., & Weathers, F. W. (2020). From trauma to growth: The roles of event centrality, posttraumatic stress symptoms, and deliberate rumination. *Traumatology*, 26(2), 152-159. https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000214
- Lamis, D. A., Ballard, E. D., May, A. M., & Dvorak, R. D. (2016). Depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation in college students: The mediating and moderating roles of hopelessness, alcohol problems, and social support. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 72(9), 919-932. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22295
- Leiva-Bianchi, M., & Araneda, A. (2015). Confirmatory factor analysis of the Post-Traumatic Growth Inventory after the Chilean earthquake. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 20(4), 297-305. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2013.873223
- Linley, P. A., & Joseph, S. (2004). Positive change following trauma and adversity: A review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 17(1), 11-21. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOTS.0000014671.27856.7e
- Lowe, S. R., James, P., Arcaya, M. C., Vale, M. D., Rhodes, J. E., Rich-Edwards, J.,
 Roberts, A. L., & Koenen, K. C. (2020). Do levels of posttraumatic growth vary
 by type of traumatic event experienced? An analysis of the Nurses' Health Study
 II. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*. Advance
 online publication. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000554

- Manove, E. E., Lowe, S. R., Bonumwezi, J., Preston, J., Waters, M. C., & Rhodes, J. E. (2019). Posttraumatic growth in low-income Black mothers who survived Hurricane Katrina. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 89(2), 144-158. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000398
- Martínez-Hernáez, A., Carceller-Maicas, N., DiGiacomo, S. M., & Ariste, S. (2016).
 Social support and gender differences in coping with depression among emerging adults: A mixed-methods study. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 10, Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-015-0088-x
- McMillen, C., Zuravin, S., & Rideout, G. (1995). Perceived benefit from child sexual abuse. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 63(6), 1037-1043. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.63.6.1037
- McMillen, J. C., Smith, E. M., & Fisher, R. H. (1997). Perceived benefit and mental health after three types of disaster. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65(5), 733-739. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.65.5.733
- Milner, A., Krnjacki, L., & LaMontagne, A. D. (2016). Age and gender differences in the influence of social support on mental health: A longitudinal fixed-effects analysis using 13 annual waves of the HILDA cohort. *Public Health*, *140*, 172-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2016.06.029
- Neal, A. M., Dixon, K. J., Edwards, K. M., & Gidycz, C. A. (2015). Why did she do it?
 College women's motives for intimate partner violence perpetration. *Partner Abuse*, 6(4), 425-441. https://doi.org/10.1891/1946-6560.6.4.425

Nelson, K. (2016). The contribution of adult attachment style on the experience of posttraumatic growth among adult survivors of childhood posttraumatic growth among adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse (Publication No. 5430)
[Doctoral dissertation, University of Central Florida]. STARS Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019.

https://stars.library.ucf.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=6430&context=etd

- Nordstrand, A. E., Bøe, H. J., Holen, A., Reichelt, J. G., Gjerstad, C. L., & Hjemdal, O. (2020). Social support and disclosure of war-zone experiences after deployment to Afghanistan Implications for posttraumatic deprecation or growth. *Traumatology*, 26(4), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000254
- Pierce, J., Abbey, A., & Wegner, R. (2018). Mediators of the association between childhood emotional maltreatment and young adult men's life satisfaction. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 33(4), 595-616. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515609584
- Ramos, C., Leal, I., Marôco, A. L., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2016). The Posttraumatic Growth Inventory: Factor structure and invariance in a sample of breast cancer patients and in a non-clinical sample. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, *19*, E64. https://doi.org/10.1017/sjp.2016.65

Rodríguez-Rey, R., Alonso-Tapia, J., Kassam-Adams, N., & Garrido-Hernansaiz, H.
(2016). The factor structure of the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory in parents of critically ill children. *Psicothema*, 28(4), 495-503.
https://doi.org/10.7334/psicothema2016.162

Romeo, A., Di Tella, M., Ghiggia, A., Tesio, V., Torta, R., & Castelli, L. (2020).

Posttraumatic growth in breast cancer survivors: Are depressive symptoms really negative predictors? *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 12*(3), 244-250. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000508

Rutter, L. A., Weatherill, R. P., Taft, C. T., & Orazem, R. J. (2012). Examining gender differences in the relationship between dating violence victimization and anger in college students. *Violence and Victims*, 27(1), 70-77. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.27.1.70

Saltzman, L. Y., Easton, S. D., & Salas-Wright, C. P. (2015). A validation study of the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory among survivors of clergy-perpetrated child sexual abuse. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 6(3), 305-315. https://doi.org/10.1086/682728

Samios, C., Raatjes, B., Ash, J., Lade, S. L., & Langdon, T. (2020). Meaning in life following intimate partner psychological aggression: The roles of self-kindness, positive reframing, and growth. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *35*(7-8), 1567-1586. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519898437

Sattler, D. N., Claramita, M., & Muskavage, B. (2018). Natural disasters in Indonesia:
Relationships among posttraumatic stress, resource loss, depression, social
support, and posttraumatic growth. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 23(5), 351-365.
https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2017.1415740

- Schaefer, L. M., Howell, K. H., Schwartz, L. E., Bottomley, J. S., & Crossnine, C. B. (2018). A concurrent examination of protective factors associated with resilience and posttraumatic growth following childhood victimization. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 85, 17-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.08.019
- Shakespeare-Finch, J., & Barrington, A. J. (2012). Behavioural changes add validity to the construct of posttraumatic growth. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 25(4), 433-439. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.21730
- Shakespeare-Finch, J., Martinek, E., Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2013). A qualitative approach to assessing the validity of the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 18(6), 572-591. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2012.734207
- Sheridan, G., & Carr, A. (2020). Survivors' lived experiences of posttraumatic growth after institutional childhood abuse: An interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 103, Article 104430.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104430

Silverstein, M. W., Witte, T. K., Lee, D. J., Kramer, L. B., & Weathers, F. W. (2018).
Dimensions of growth? Examining the distinctiveness of the five factors of the
Posttraumatic Growth Inventory. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *31*(3), 448-453.
https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22298

Smith, A. J., Felix, E. D., Benight, C. C., & Jones, R. T. (2017). Protective factors, coping appraisals, and social barriers predict mental health following community violence: A prospective test of social cognitive theory. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 30(3), 245-253. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22197

Smith, B. N., Vaughn, R. A., Vogt, D., King, D. W., King, L. A., & Shipherd, J. C. (2013). Main and interactive effects of social support in predicting mental health symptoms in men and women following military stressor exposure. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping*, 26(1), 52-69.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2011.634001

- Smith, S. G., Zhang, X., Basile, K. C., Merrick, M. T., Wang, J., Kresnow, M., & Chen,
 J. (2018). *The national intimate partner and sexual violence survey (NISVS:* 2015 data brief – Updated release. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/2015data-brief508.pdf
- Sperry, D. M., & Widom, C. S. (2013). Child abuse and neglect, social support, and psychopathology in adulthood: A prospective investigation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(6), 415-425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.02.006
- Sperry, D. M., & Widom, C. S. (2015). "Child abuse and neglect, social support, and psychopathology in adulthood: A prospective investigation": Corrigendum. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 47, 175-176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.05.016

Stein, C. H., Petrowski, C. E., Gonzales, S. M., Mattei, G. M., Hartl Majcher, J.,

Froemming, M. W., Greenberg, S. C., Dulek, E. B., & Benoit, M. F. (2018). A matter of life and death: Understanding continuing bonds and post-traumatic growth when young adults experience the loss of a close friend. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(3), 725-738. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0943-x

Stermac, L., Cabral, C. M., Clarke, A. K., & Toner, B. (2014). Mediators of posttraumatic mental health in sexual assault survivors. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 23(3), 301-317.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2014.881948

- Tashiro, T., & Frazier, P. (2003). "I'll never be in a relationship like that again":
 Personal growth following romantic relationship breakups. *Personal Relationships*, 10(1), 113-128. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6811.00039
- Taylor, S. (2020). Transformation through loss and grief: A study of personal transformation following bereavement. *The Humanistic Psychologist*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1037/hum0000172
- Tedeschi, R. G. (1999). Violence transformed: Posttraumatic growth in survivors and their societies. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 4(3), 319-341. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-1789(98)00005-6
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (1996). The Posttraumatic Growth Inventory:
 Measuring the positive legacy of trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 9(3), 455-472. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.2490090305

Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). Posttraumatic growth: Conceptual foundations and empirical evidence. *Psychological Inquiry*, 15(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli1501_01

Turell, S. C., Brown, M., & Herrmann, M. (2018). Disproportionately high: An exploration of intimate partner violence prevalence rates for bisexual people. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 33(1-2), 113-131. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681994.2017.1347614

- Valdez, C. E., & Lilly, M. M. (2015). Posttraumatic growth in survivors of intimate partner violence: An assumptive world process. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 30(2), 215-231. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514533154
- Valentine, S. E., Bankoff, S. M., & Pantalone, D. W. (2013). Finding meaning after same-sex partner abuse: A content analysis of experiences of men with HIV. *Violence and Victims*, 28(1), 161-177.

https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.28.1.161

- Vishnevsky, T., Cann, A., Calhoun, L. G., Tedeschi, R. G., & Demakis, G. J. (2010).
 Gender differences in self-reported posttraumatic growth: A meta-analysis. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 34(1), 110-120.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2009.01546.x
- Webster, J. D., & Deng, X. C. (2015). Paths from trauma to intrapersonal strength:
 Worldview, posttraumatic growth, and wisdom. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 20(3), 253-266. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2014.932207

Wolford-Clevenger, C., Grigorian, H., Brem, M., Florimbio, A., Elmquist, J., & Stuart,
G. L. (2017). Associations of emotional abuse types with suicide ideation among
dating couples. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 26(9), 10421054. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2017.1335821

Wolford-Clevenger, C., Vann, N. C., & Smith, P. N. (2016). The association of partner abuse types and suicidal ideation among men and women college students.*Violence and Victims*, *31*(3), 471-485.

https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-14-00083

- World Health Organization. (2002). *World report on violence and health: Summary*. https://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/summ ary_en.pdf
- Wu, X., Kaminga, A. C., Dai, W., Deng, J., Wang, Z., Pan, X., & Liu, A. (2019). The prevalence of moderate-to-high posttraumatic growth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 243, 408-415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.09.023
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., & Farley, G. K. (1988). The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52(1), 30-41. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2

Žukauskienė, R., Kaniušonytė, G., Bergman, L. R., Bakaitytė, A., & Truskauskaitė-Kunevičienė, I. (2019). The role of social support in identity processes and posttraumatic growth: A study of victims of intimate partner violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. Advance online publication.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519836785

APPENDICES

Appendix A

IRB Approval Page

IRB

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD Office of Research Compliance, 010A Sam Ingram Building, 2269 Middle Tennessee Blvd Murfreesboro, TN 37129 FWA: 00005331/IRB Regn. 0003571

NÓNE



IRBN001 - EXPEDITED PROTOCOL APPROVAL NOTICE

Friday, December 18, 2020

Protocol Title Protocol ID	Romantic Relationships, Social Support and Personal Growth 21-2085 7q
Principal Investigator	Justice M. Cundiff (Student)
Faculty Advisor	Mary Ellen Fromuth
Co-Investigators	NONE
Investigator Email(s)	jmc2ft@mtmtmail.mtsu.edu; maryellen.fromuth@mtsu.edu
Department	Psychology

Dear Investigator(s),

Funding

The above identified research proposal has been reviewed by the MTSU IRB through the EXPEDITED mechanism under 45 CFR 46.110 and 21 CFR 56.110 within the category (7) Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior. A summary of the IRB action is tabulated below:

IRB Action	APPROVED f	for ONE YEAR							
Date of Expiration	12/31/2021	Date of Approval: 12/18/20	Recent Amendment: NONE						
Sample Size	THREE HUND	DRED (300)							
Participant Pool	Target Populati	on:							
	Prima	ry Classification: Healthy Adults (1	18 or older)						
	Speci	Specific Classification: Psychology Research Pool (SONA)							
Type of Interaction	Virtual/Ren	note/Online interaction							
	🔲 In person o	or physical interaction - Mandatory	COVID-19 Management						
Exceptions	1. Permitted to administer online consent followed by a survey administered using								
	Qualtrics.								
	Retention or	f aprticipant details to comply with	SONA policy is allowed.						
Restrictions	1. Mandatory	1. Mandatory ACTIVE Informed Consent.							
	2. Other than	the exceptions above, identifiab	le data/artifacts, such as,						
	audio/video data, photographs, handwriting samples, personal address, dr								
	records, social security number, and etc., MUST NOT be collected. Recorded								
	identifiable information must be deidentified as described in the protocol.								
3. Mandatory Final report (refer last page).									
	The protocol details must not be included in the compensation receipt.								
	5. CDC guide	lines and MTSU safe practice mu	ist be followed						
Approved Templates	IRB Templates	Online Informed Consent and Re	cruitment Script						
-	Non-MTSU Ter	nplates: NONE							
Research Inducement	Course Credit								
Comments	NONE	NONE							

IRBN001 (Stu)

Version 2.0

Rev 08/07/2020

Institutional Review Board, MTSU

FWA: 00005331

IRB Registration. 0003571

Post-approval Requirements

The PI and FA must read and abide by the post-approval conditions (Refer "Quick Links" in the bottom):

- Reporting Adverse Events: The PI must report research-related adversities suffered by the participants, deviations from the protocol, misconduct, and etc., within 48 hours from when they were discovered.
- Final Report: The FA is responsible for submitting a final report to close-out this protocol before 12/31/2021 (Refer to the Continuing Review section below); <u>REMINDERS WILLNOT BE SENT</u>, Failure to close-out or request for a continuing review may result in penalties including cancellation of the data collected using this protocol and/or withholding student diploma.
- Protocol Amendments: An IRB approval must be obtained for all types of amendments, such as: addition/removal of subject population or investigating team; sample size increases; changes to the research sites (appropriate permission letter(s) may be needed); alternation to funding; and etc. The proposed amendments must be requested by the FA in an addendum request form. The proposed changes must be consistent with the approval category and they must comply with expedited review requirements
- Research Participant Compensation: Compensation for research participation must be awarded as
 proposed in Chapter 6 of the Expedited protocol. The documentation of the monetary compensation must
 Appendix J and MUST NOT include protocol details when reporting to the MTSU Business Office.
- COVID-19: Regardless whether this study poses a threat to the participants or not, refer to the COVID-19 Management section for important information for the FA.

Continuing Review (The PI has requested early termination)

Although this protocol can be continued for up to THREE years, The PI has opted to end the study by 12/31/2021 The PI must close-out this protocol by submitting a final report before 12/31/2021 Failure to close-out may result in penalties that include cancellation of the data collected using this protocol and delays in graduation of the student PI.

Post-approval Protocol Amendments:

The current MTSU IRB policies allow the investigators to implement minor and significant amendments that would fit within this approval category. **Only TWO procedural amendments will be entertained per year** (changes like addition/removal of research personnel are not restricted by this rule).

Date	Amendment(s)	IRB Comments
NONE	NONE.	NONE

Other Post-approval Actions:

The following actions are done subsequent to the approval of this protocol on request by the PI/FA or on recommendation by the IRB or by both.

Date	IRB Action(s)	IRB Comments
NONE	NÔNE	NONE

COVID-19 Management:

The PI must follow social distancing guidelines and other practices to avoid viral exposure to the participants and other workers when physical contact with the subjects is made during the study.

- The study must be stopped if a participant or an investigator should test positive for COVID-19 within 14 days
 of the research interaction. This must be reported to the IRB as an "adverse event."
- The MTSU's "Return-to-work" questionnaire found in Pipeline must be filled by the investigators on the day
 of the research interaction prior to physical contact.
- PPE must be worn if the participant would be within 6 feet from the each other or with an investigator.
- · Physical surfaces that will come in contact with the participants must be sanitized between use
- FA's Responsibility: The FA is given the administrative authority to make emergency changes to protect the wellbeing of the participants and student researchers during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the FA must notify the IRB after such changes have been made. The IRB will audit the changes at a later date and the FA will be instructed to carryout remedial measures if needed.

Data Management & Storage:

All research-related records (signed consent forms, investigator training and etc.) must be retained by the PI or the faculty advisor (if the PI is a student) at the secure location mentioned in the protocol application. IRBN001 – Expedited Protocol Approval Notice (Stu) Page 2 of 3 Institutional Review Board, MTSU

FWA: 00005331

IRB Registration. 0003571

The data must be stored for at least three (3) years after the study is closed. Additional Tennessee State data retention requirement may apply (refer "Quick Links" for MTSU policy 129 below). The data may be destroyed in a manner that maintains confidentiality and anonymity of the research subjects.

The MTSU IRB reserves the right to modify/update the approval criteria or change/cancel the terms listed in this letter without prior notice. Be advised that IRB also reserves the right to inspect or audit your records if needed.

Sincerely,

Institutional Review Board Middle Tennessee State University

Quick Links:

- Post-approval Responsibilities: <u>http://www.mtsu.edu/irb/FAQ/PostApprovalResponsibilities.php</u>
 Expedited Procedures: <u>https://mtsu.edu/irb/ExpeditedProcedures.php</u>
 MTSU Policy 129: Records retention & Disposal: <u>https://www.mtsu.edu/policies/general/129.php</u>

60

IRBN001 - Expedited Protocol Approval Notice (Stu)

Page 3 of 3

Appendix B

Revised IRB Approval Page

IRB

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD Office of Research Compliance, 010A Sam Ingram Building, 2269 Middle Tennessee Blvd Murfreesboro, TN 37129 FWA: 00005331/IRB Regn. 0003571



IRBN001 - EXPEDITED PROTOCOL APPROVAL NOTICE

Friday, January 29, 2021

Protocol Title Protocol ID	Romantic Relationships, Social Support and Personal Growth 21-2085 7q
Principal Investigator	Justice M. Cundiff (Student)
Faculty Advisor	Mary Ellen Fromuth
Co-Investigators	NONE
Investigator Email(s)	<i>jmc2ft@mtmtmail.mtsu.edu; maryellen.fromuth@mtsu.edu</i>
Department	Psychology
Funding	NONE

Dear Investigator(s),

The above identified research proposal has been reviewed by the MTSU IRB through the **EXPEDITED** mechanism under 45 CFR 46.110 and 21 CFR 56.110 within the category (7) Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior. A summary of the IRB action is tabulated below:

IRB Action	APPROVED	for ONE YEAR					
Date of Expiration	12/31/2021	Date of Approval: 12/18/20	Recent Amendment: 1/29/21				
Sample Size	THREE HUND	DRED (300)					
Participant Pool	Target Populati	ion:					
	Prima	ary Classification: Healthy Adults (1	18 or older)				
	Speci	fic Classification: Psychology Res	earch Pool (SONA)				
Type of Interaction	Virtual/Rer	mote/Online interaction					
	In person of	or physical interaction – Mandatory	COVID-19 Management				
Exceptions	 Permitted to administer online consent followed by a survey administered using 						
	Qualtrics.						
	Retention of aprticipant details to comply with SONA policy is allowed.						
Restrictions	1. Mandatory ACTIVE Informed Consent.						
	Other than the exceptions above, identifiable data/artifacts, such as,						
	audio/video o	data, photographs, handwriting s	amples, personal address, driving				
	records, soci	ial security number, and etc., MU	ST NOT be collected. Recorded				
	identifiable in	nformation must be deidentified a	is described in the protocol.				
	3. Mandatory	Final report (refer last page).					
	4. The protoc	col details must not be included in	n the compensation receipt.				
	5. CDC guide	lines and MTSU safe practice mu	ist be followed				
Approved Templates	IRB Templates	 Online Informed Consent and Re 	cruitment Script				
	Non-MTSU Ter	nplates: NONE					
Research Inducement	Course Credit						
Comments	NONE						

Version 2.0

Rev 08/07/2020

Institutional Review Board, MTSU

FWA: 00005331

IRB Registration. 0003571

Post-approval Requirements

The PI and FA must read and abide by the post-approval conditions (Refer *Quick Links* in the bottom):

- Reporting Adverse Events: The PI must report research-related adversities suffered by the participants, deviations from the protocol, misconduct, and etc., within 48 hours from when they were discovered.
- Final Report: The FA is responsible for submitting a final report to close-out this protocol before 12/31/2021 (Refer to the Continuing Review section below); <u>REMINDERS WILLNOT BE SENT</u>, Failure to close-out or request for a continuing review may result in penalties including cancellation of the data collected using this protocol and/or withholding student diploma.
- Protocol Amendments: An IRB approval must be obtained for all types of amendments, such as: addition/removal of subject population or investigating team; sample size increases; changes to the research sites (appropriate permission letter(s) may be needed); alternation to funding; and etc. The proposed amendments must be requested by the FA in an addendum request form. The proposed changes must be consistent with the approval category and they must comply with expedited review requirements
- Research Participant Compensation: Compensation for research participation must be awarded as
 proposed in Chapter 6 of the Expedited protocol. The documentation of the monetary compensation must
 Appendix J and MUST NOT include protocol details when reporting to the MTSU Business Office.
- COVID-19: Regardless whether this study poses a threat to the participants or not, refer to the COVID-19 Management section for important information for the FA.

Continuing Review (The PI has requested early termination)

Although this protocol can be continued for up to THREE years, The PI has opted to end the study by 12/31/2021 The PI must close-out this protocol by submitting a final report before 12/31/2021 Failure to close-out may result in penalties that include cancellation of the data collected using this protocol and delays in graduation of the student PI.

Post-approval Protocol Amendments:

The current MTSU IRB policies allow the investigators to implement minor and significant amendments that would fit within this approval category. Only TWO procedural amendments will be entertained per year (changes like addition/removal of research personnel are not restricted by this rule).

Date	Amendment(s)	IRB Comments
01/29/2021	1. The SONA recruitment script is altered.	IRBA2021-211
puntication and the second	The Qualtrics consent script is corrected for administrative error.	

Other Post-approval Actions:

The following actions are done subsequent to the approval of this protocol on request by the PI/FA or on recommendation by the IRB or by both.

Date	Constanting	IRB Action(s)	IRB Comments
NONE	NONE		NONE

COVID-19 Management:

The PI must follow social distancing guidelines and other practices to avoid viral exposure to the participants and other workers when physical contact with the subjects is made during the study.

- The study must be stopped if a participant or an investigator should test positive for COVID-19 within 14 days
 of the research interaction. This must be reported to the IRB as an "adverse event."
- The MTSU's "Return-to-work" questionnaire found in Pipeline must be filled by the investigators on the day
 of the research interaction prior to physical contact.
- PPE must be worn if the participant would be within 6 feet from the each other or with an investigator.
- Physical surfaces that will come in contact with the participants must be sanitized between use
- FA's Responsibility: The FA is given the administrative authority to make emergency changes to protect the wellbeing of the participants and student researchers during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the FA must notify the IRB after such changes have been made. The IRB will audit the changes at a later date and the FA will be instructed to carryout remedial measures if needed.

IRBN001 - Expedited Protocol Approval Notice (Stu)

Institutional Review Board, MTSU

FWA: 00005331

IRB Registration. 0003571

Data Management & Storage:

All research-related records (signed consent forms, investigator training and etc.) must be retained by the PI or the faculty advisor (if the PI is a student) at the secure location mentioned in the protocol application. The data must be stored for at least three (3) years after the study is closed. Additional Tennessee State data retention requirement may apply (*refer "Quick Links" for MTSU policy 129 below*). The data may be destroyed in a manner that maintains confidentiality and anonymity of the research subjects.

The MTSU IRB reserves the right to modify/update the approval criteria or change/cancel the terms listed in this letter without prior notice. Be advised that IRB also reserves the right to inspect or audit your records if needed.

Sincerely,

Institutional Review Board Middle Tennessee State University

Quick Links:

- Post-approval Responsibilities: <u>http://www.mtsu.edu/irb/FAQ/PostApprovalResponsibilities.php</u>
- Expedited Procedures: <u>https://mtsu.edu/irb/ExpeditedProcedures.php</u>
- MTSU Policy 129: Records retention & Disposal: <u>https://www.mtsu.edu/policies/general/129.php</u>

Appendix C

Demographic Items

Demographics

Please answer the following questions about your demographic information.

- 1. Gender:
 - a. Male
 - b. Female
 - c. Other/ I prefer not to respond

2. Ethnicity

- a. White/Caucasian
- b. Black/African American
- c. Other
- d. I prefer not to respond

3. Age

- a. 18-21
- b. 22-25
- c. 26 and older
- d. I prefer not to respond

Appendix D

Descriptive Relationship Items

1. For the section that you just completed (Part B), how many different relationships did you describe?

o I did not respond to Part B. (Skip to the end of this survey.)

o I responded for one (1) relationship that I have had within the past 12 months. (Go to question 2.)

o I responded for my most recent relationship, but it was not within the past 12 months; it occurred since I was 16 years of

age. (Go to question 2.)

o I responded for multiple (2+) relationships that I have had within the past 12 months. (Go to question 3.)

2. If you responded on Part B for one (1) relationship, how long ago did that relationship end?

o I am still in the relationship.

o The relationship ended less than 1 month ago.

o The relationship ended between 1 and 6 months ago.

o The relationship ended between 7 and 12 months ago.

o The relationship ended between 13 months and 2 years ago.

o It has been longer than 2 years since the relationship ended.

3. If you responded on Part B for multiple (2+) relationships within the past 12 months, how long ago did the most recent relationship end?

o I am still in the relationship.

o The relationship ended less than 1 month ago.

o The relationship ended between 1 and 6 months ago.

o The relationship ended between 7 and 12 months ago

Appendix E

Informed Consent

IRBF024 - INFORMED CONSENT for ONLINE STUDIES (Use this consent template when recruiting adult participants when online data are collected)

Mandatory Consent Requirements for online use:

- Use the same text used in this form when requesting online consent from the participants – Provide the online consent link for IRB review
- b. The first page of the survey must display this informed consent text.
- Participants' consent to participate must be entertained by two distinct responses: one to consent and one to decline.
 - i. The participant age must be verified through a separate question
 - Agreeing to consent and age verification must both be true before the online instrument can be administered.
 - iii. Additional questions may be asked for filtering ineligible participants

IRBF024 – Participant Informed Consent (ONLINE)

Language to be used for online surveys that qualify for "no more than minimal risk"

Use the following text as printed here in the first page of the Qualtrics survey to administer online informed consent. Alterations to this template are allowed on a case by case basis. However, making alterations would delay the review and approval process.

Information and Disclosure Section

The following information is provided to inform you about the research project in which you have been invited to participate. Please read this disclosure and feel free to ask any questions. The investigators must answer all of your questions and please save this page as a PDF for future reference.

- · Your participation in this research study is voluntary.
- You are also free to withdraw from this study at any time without loss of any benefits.

For additional information on your rights as a participant in this study, please contact the Middle Tennessee State University (MTSU) Office of Compliance (Tel 615-494-8918 or send your emails to <u>irb_information@mtsu.edu</u>. (URL: http://www.mtsu.edu/irb).

- Purpose: This research project is designed to help us evaluate the relationships among social support, potentially negative experiences in romantic relationships, and personal growth.
- Description: If you agree to participate after reading this informed consent form, there are several parts to this project. They are:
 - A brief demographic survey will collect information about your gender, age, and ethnicity.
 - A questionnaire will ask about your personal experiences with social support, potentially
 negative interactions in romantic relationships (including potential physical, psychological, and
 sexual abuse), and personal growth after those relationships.

3. IRB Approval:

- Primary Investigator: Justice M. Cundiff
- PI Department & College: Psychology Department, College of Behavioral and Health Sciences
- Faculty Advisor (if PI is a student): Dr. Mary Ellen Fromuth

IRBF024 – TXT format online IC Version 1.1

10.04.2018
Institutional Review Board
 Protocol T

Office of Compliance Middle Tennessee State University

- Protocol Title: Social Support, Romantic Relationships, and Personal Growth
- Protocol ID: 21-2085 7q Approval Date: 12/18/2020 Expiration Date: 12/31/2021
- Duration: The whole activity should take less than 30 minutes. Participants will receive 1 research credit in their psychology course. Participants must click through each page of the online study in order to complete the study and receive research credit.
- 5. Here are your rights as a participant:
 - Your participation in this research is voluntary.
 - You may skip any item that you don't want to answer, and you may stop the experiment at any time (but see the note below)
 - If you leave an item blank by either not clicking or entering a response, you may be warned that you missed one, just in case it was an accident. But you can continue the study without entering a response if you didn't want to answer any questions.
 - Some items may require a response to accurately present the survey.
 - 6. Risks & Discomforts: Responding to this study may elicit emotional responses in participants who have had negative experiences in romantic relationships. The probability and magnitude of discomfort, however, are not higher than could be expected during a routine psychological examination. A list of available resources is included at the end of the study for those who may wish to speak with a professional. MTSU will not provide compensation in the case of study related injury.
- Benefits: Although there is no direct benefit to the participant, there is social and scientific value to
 exploring the relationships among social support, experiences in romantic relationships, and
 personal growth.
- Identifiable Information: Though you will be asked about your personal experiences, you will NOT
 be asked to provide identifiable personal information, such as your name or M-number. Information
 related to your online participation, such as your IP address, also will not be collected.
- 9. Compensation: The participating students will receive a class credit if the meet the following qualification requirements.

Compensation Requirements:

- a) The qualifications to participate in this research are: You must be at least 18 years of age to participate. If you do not meet these qualifications, you will not be included in the research and you will not be compensated.
- b) Please do not participate in this research more than once. Multiple attempts to participate will not be compensated.
- c) To be compensated, you must click through to the final screen of the study. If you choose to stop for any reason, you will still need to click through until the end to receive compensation (just leave the items blank and click through until the end <; if items require a response to present the survey accurately, you will need to respond to those items as you progress to the end of the survey)>.
- d) After completing the survey, you automatically will be directed back to the SONA System to receive credit for your participation in this study. We recommend that you take a screenshot of the debriefing page of the study, as this could be useful if you should need access to resources or further confirmation of your participation.
- 10. Confidentiality. All efforts, within reason, will be made to keep your personal information private, but total privacy cannot be promised. Your information may be shared with MTSU or the government, such as the Middle Tennessee State University Institutional Review Board, Federal

IRBF024 – TXT Online IC

Page 3 of 3

Institutional Review Board

Office of Compliance Middle Tennessee State University

Government Office for Human Research Protections, if you or someone else is in danger or if we are required to do so by law.

11. Contact Information. If you should have any questions about this research study or possibly injury, please feel free to contact Justice M. Cundiff by email (JMC2FT@mtmail.mtsu.edu) OR my faculty advisor, Dr. Mary Ellen Fromuth, at MaryEllen.Fromuth@mtsu.edu. You can also contact the MTSU Office of compliance via telephone (615 494 8918) or by email (compliance@mtsu.edu). This contact information will be presented again at the end of the experiment.

You are not required to do anything further if you decide not to enroll in this study. Just quit your browser. Please complete the response section below if you wish to learn more or you wish to part take in this study.

Participant Response Section

- No Yes I have read this informed consent document pertaining to the above identified research
- No Yes The research procedures to be conducted are clear to me
- No Yes I confirm I am 18 years or older
- No Yes I am aware of the potential risks of the study

By clicking below, I affirm that I freely and voluntarily choose to participate in this study. I understand I can withdraw from this study at any time without facing any consequences.

NO I do not consent

Yes I consent

□ Original [Date of Approval] □ Amended [Date of Amendment]

Page 3 of 3

Appendix F

Debriefing Form

After reading this page, you must continue on to the next page to complete this survey and receive credit. You may take a screenshot of the information on this page for your records.

Reiterated Informed Consent Information

Purpose: This research project is designed to help us evaluate the relationships among social support, potentially negative experiences in romantic relationships, and personal growth.

Description: If you agree to participate after reading this informed consent form, there are several parts to this project. They are:

•A brief demographic survey will collect information about your gender, age, and ethnicity.

•A questionnaire will ask about your personal experiences with social support, potentially negative interactions in romantic relationships (including abuse), and personal growth after those relationships.

Duration: The whole activity should take less than 30 minutes. Participants will receive 1 research credit in their psychology course. Participants must click through each page of the online study in order to complete the study and receive research credit.

Here are your rights as a participant:

•Your participation in this research is voluntary.

•You may skip any item that you don't want to answer, and you may stop the experiment at any time (but see the note below)

•If you leave an item blank by either not clicking or entering a response, you may be warned that you missed one, just in case it was an accident. But you can continue the study without entering a response if you didn't want to answer any questions.

•Some items may require a response to accurately present the survey.

Risks & Discomforts: Responding to this study may elicit emotional responses for participants who have had negative experiences in romantic relationships. The probability and magnitude of discomfort, however, are not higher than could be expected during a routine psychological examination. A list of available resources is included at the end of the study for those who may wish to speak with a professional. MTSU will not provide compensation in the case of study related injury.

Benefits: Although there is no direct benefit to the participant, there is social and scientific value to exploring the relationships among social support, experiences in romantic relationships, and personal growth.

Identifiable Information: Though you will be asked about your personal experiences, you will NOT be asked to provide identifiable personal information, such as your name or M-number. Information related to your online participation, such as your IP address, also will not be collected.

Compensation: Participants will receive 1 research credit for their course.

Compensation Requirements:

•The qualifications to participate in this research are: You must be at least 18 years of age to participate . If you do not meet these qualifications, you will not be included in the research and you will not be compensated.

•Please do not participate in this research more than once. Multiple attempts to participate will not be compensated.

•To be compensated, you must click through to the final screen of the study. If you choose to stop for any reason, you will still need to click through until the end to receive compensation (just leave the items blank and click through until the end <; if items require a response to present the survey accurately, you will need to respond to those items as you progress to the end of the survey)>.

•After completing the survey, you automatically will be directed back to the SONA System to receive credit for your participation in this study. We recommend that you take a screenshot of the debriefing page of the study, as this could be useful if you should need access to resources or further confirmation of your participation.

Confidentiality: All efforts, within reason, will be made to keep your personal information private, but total privacy cannot be promised. Your information may be shared with MTSU or the government, such as the Middle Tennessee State University Institutional Review Board, Federal Government Office for Human Research Protections, if you or someone else is in danger or if we are required to do so by law.

Debriefing Information

Studies (e.g., Dardis et al., 2020) suggest that dating violence is prevalent among university students. Survivors of partner abuse have a higher risk for a variety of adjustment issues, such as higher risk of developing depressive or anxiety disorders (e.g., Cody et al., 2017). Research (e.g., Samios et al., 2020) has found, however, that survivors of partner violence also may experience personal growth. According to Tedeschi and Calhoun (1996), adverse experiences can lead to posttraumatic growth in various areas of life, such as by improving interpersonal relationships and by increasing personal strength. Some studies (e.g., Žukauskienė et al., 2019) have found that higher levels of social support are associated with higher levels of personal growth. Very little is known, though, about the relationship between social support, partner violence, and posttraumatic growth in university samples or in samples that include men. The current study investigated gender differences in the relationships among social support, partner abuse, and personal growth.

If you should have any questions about this research study, please feel free to contact Justice M. Cundiff by email (JMC2FT@mtmail.mtsu.edu) OR my faculty advisor, Dr. Mary Ellen Fromuth, at MaryEllen.Fromuth@mtsu.edu. You also can contact the MTSU Office of compliance via telephone (615 494 8918) or by email (compliance@mtsu.edu). If you or someone you know has experienced partner violence, the following resources are available if you would like to speak with a professional:

<u>National Coalition Against Domestic</u> <u>Violence</u>

Visit: https://ncadv.org/ Call: 1-800-799-7233 Text: LOVEIS to 1-866-331-9474

Domestic Violence & Sexual Assault

Center (located in Murfreesboro, TN)

Visit: https://dvsacenter.org/

Call: (615) 896-7377

Emergency line: (615) 896-2012

MTSU Counseling Services (located in the Keathley University Center on campus) Visit: https://www.mtsu.edu/countest/

Call: (615) 898-2670

Mobile Crisis Line for Emergencies

Call: 1-800-704-2651

Continue on to the next page to complete this survey and receive credit. You automatically will be redirected back to the SONA system to receive credit for your participation. We suggest that you take a screenshot of this debriefing page to keep for your records. This would give you access to the resources on this page and could, if need be, serve as additional proof of your participation.